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statutes: the Stark Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute (AKS). (Id. 9 9). As a result,
he says, Defendants violated the FCA when they presented claims for reimbursement
to federally funded health insurance programs and falsely certified compliance with
those laws. (Id. at #557; see also Docs. 50-6, 50-7 (examples of cost reports); Docs. 50-
8, 50-9, 50-10, 50-11 (examples of allegedly false claims)).

Relatedly, Murphy claims he repeatedly objected to Defendants’ payments to
physicians for referrals. (Id. at #711-25). In response to those complaints, TriHealth
leadership allegedly threatened Murphy’s job if he would not comply with their
physician-compensation scheme. (Id. at #720-21). Then, when Murphy continued to
object, TriHealth leadership ordered him to resign. (Id. at #724).

Murphy responded by suing TriHealth, TriHealth Hospitals, and TriHealth
Physicians both on behalf of (1) the United States for FCA violations, and (2) himself
for violation of the FCA’s anti-retaliation provisions. (Id. at #725-32). Then, roughly
ten months later, Shahbabian, a former TriHealth neurosurgeon, initiated a separate
FCA qui tam action against TriHealth, TriHealth Hospitals, and Mayfield. (See
Shahbabian, No. 1:20-cv-67, Doc. 1). There, Shahbabian claims that TriHealth,
TriHealth Hospitals, and Mayfield engaged in a similar referral compensation
scheme. (See generally id.).

Murphy and Shahbabian filed their respective Complaints under seal as the
FCA requires. The United States declined to intervene in either case. (Doc. 23;

Shahbabian, No. 1:20-cv-67, Doc. 17). Subsequently, the Court ordered the operative
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relator is entitled to a portion of the recovery. Id. at 769—-70. Based on that framework,
the Supreme Court has expressly held that an FCA relator meets Article I1I standing
requirements through “partial assignment of the Government’s damages claim.” Id.
at 773-74.

Not so fast, Defendants say. They argue that the FCA’s qui tam provisions run
afoul of yet another part of the Constitution: Article II. And, because relators lack
proper authorization under Article II, Defendants claim, relators cannot pursue an
FCA suit, meaning that they lack standing under Article III (as they do not have the
requisite personal interest in the suit). (Doc. 65, #849).

The problem for Defendants is that Stevens squarely forecloses this argument.
In Stevens, while “express[ing] no view on the question whether qui tam suits violate
Article I1,” 529 U.S. at 778 n.8, the Court found “no room for doubt that a qui tam
relator under the FCA has Article 11l standing,” id. at 778. The Supreme Court’s more
recent decisions in United States ex rel. Polansky v. Executive Health Resources Inc.,
599 U.S. 419 (2023), and Cochise Consultancy, Inc. v. United States ex rel. Hunt, 587
U.S. 262 (2019), further confirm that result. While the Supreme Court did not
mention standing in either case, it cited Stevens in both (thereby suggesting that
Stevens remains good law). And in Polansky, the Court endorsed the basis for the
Stevens holding that a relator’s standing arises from the government’s injury: “The
FCA, we have explained, ‘effect[s] a partial assignment of the Government’s’ own
damages claim.” 599 U.S. at 425 (quoting Stevens, 529 U.S. at 773). In Cochise, the

Court proceeded to judgment in an intervention-declined FCA action. See 587 U.S. at
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on its face.” United States ex rel. SNAPP, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 532 F.3d 496, 502
(6th Cir. 2008) (cleaned up).

Importantly, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 9(b) applies to FCA claims.
United States ex rel. USN4U, LLC v. Wolf Creek Fed. Seruvs., Inc., 34 F.4th 507, 513—
14 (6th Cir. 2022). To comply with Rule 9(b), the relator “at a minimum, must ‘allege
the time place, and content of the alleged misrepresentation on which [the
government] relied; the fraudulent scheme; the fraudulent intent of the defendants;
and the injury resulting from the fraud.” United States ex rel. Bledsoe v. Cmty. Health
Sys., Inc., 342 F.3d 634, 643 (6th Cir. 2003) (quoting Coffey v. Foamex L.P., 2 F.3d
157, 161-62 (6th Cir. 1993)). “When a relator ‘alleges a complex and far-reaching
fraudulent scheme, then that scheme must be pleaded with particularity and the
complaint must also provide examples of specific fraudulent conduct that are
representative samples of the scheme.” USN4U, 34 F.4th at 514 (quoting United
States ex rel. Prather v. Brookdale Senior Living Cmtys., Inc., 892 F.3d 822, 830 (6th
Cir. 2018)) (cleaned up).

The FCA aims to stop fraud on the government. Universal Health Seruvs., Inc.
v. United States, 579 U.S. 176, 181-82 (2016). To that end, the FCA provides that:

[A]ny person who—

(A) knowingly presents, or causes to be presented, a false or
fraudulent claim for payment or approval;

(B) knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false
record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim;

(C) conspires to commit a violation of subparagraph (A), (B), (D),
(B), (F), or (G)

10






Case: 1:19-cv-00168-DRC Doc #: 77 Filed: 07/28/25 Page: 12 of 40 PAGEID #: 1362

falsely certified compliance with AKS and Stark and used false records to conceal
payments that violated AKS or Stark. (Id. at #1223 n.7).

Defendants, however, do not differentiate between Murphy’s subparagraph (A)
and (B) claims. Instead, Defendants challenge two partially overlapping elements:
falsity and knowledge. (Doc. 67, #868-92). They say Murphy failed to plead with
particularity the underlying AKS and Stark violations. And, in any event, even if
Murphy has made a prima facie case under AKS or Stark, Defendants contend that
Murphy’s allegations fall within those laws’ respective exceptions. More than that,
Defendants contend that Murphy has not plausibly alleged that they knew about the

AKS or Stark violations when submitting the purportedly false claims.

a. Prima Facie AKS Violations

The AKS establishes criminal and civil liability for “knowingly and willfully
offer[ing] or pay[ing] any remuneration (including any kickback bribe, or rebate)
directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind to any person to induce
such person ... to refer an individual to a person for the furnishing ... of any item or
service” reimbursable under a federal healthcare program. 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-
7b(b)(2)(A). Under the 2010 amendment to the AKS, “a claim that includes items or
services resulting from a violation of [the AKS] constitutes a false or fraudulent claim
for purposes of [the FCA].” Id. § 1320a-7b(g).

As a threshold matter, the parties dispute the 2010 amendment’s implications.
Defendants argue that an AKS violation only makes claims “false” under the FCA if

the “claims submitted to federal healthcare programs would not have been submitted

12
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but for the alleged kickbacks.” (Doc. 67, #877 (citing United States ex rel. Martin v.
Hathaway, 63 F.4th 1043, 1052-55 (6th Cir. 2023))).

Murphy, by contrast, argues that the 2010 amendment does not supplant
previously recognized liability theories, even for subparagraph (A) claims based on
AKS violations. (Doc. 71, #1240). Under one such theory,* “compliance with the AKS
1s a material condition of reimbursement of every payment by the government and
the failure to comply with such material condition renders the claim for payment a
false claim.” (Id. at #1241). Murphy argues that his allegations meet this causation
requirement because Defendants’ “knowing conduct was a substantial factor in
bringing about the submission of claims, and the ‘critical event that caused the claims
to be false.” (Id. at #1244 (quoting Doc. 50, 19 543—44)). Murphy also argues that “the
requisite causal connection is established when ‘Defendants knew that their actions
would, if successful, result in the submission by [providers] of compliance
certifications required by Medicare that [the defendants] knew would be false.” (Id.
at #1243 (quoting United States ex rel. Westmoreland v. Amgen, Inc., 738 F. Supp. 2d

267, 277-78 (D. Mass. 2010)) (alterations in original)).

4 Murphy refers to this theory as one of “material falsity” or seemingly interchangeably, “false
certification.” (Doc. 71, #1240). Courts have divided FCA claims, including those involving
AKS violations, into “judicially created formal categories” such as: factually or legally false,
and legally false by express or by implied certification. United States ex rel. Hutcheson v.
Blackstone Med., Inc., 647 F.3d 377, 385 (1st Cir. 2011). “The text of the FCA does not refer
to ‘factually false’ or ‘legally false’ claims, nor does it refer to ‘express certification’ or ‘implied
certification’ ... [nor] ‘certification’ at all.” Id. (citing United States ex rel. Hendow v. Univ. of
Phoenix, 461 F.3d 1166, 1172 (9th Cir. 2006)). So the Court elects to use the categories the
text provides: subparagraphs (A) and (B).

13
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Both parties are half right. Under the 2010 amendment, an AKS violation
automatically makes a claim “false” if that claim that “includes items or services
resulting from” the violation. See 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(g). And, at least in the Sixth
Circuit, “resulting from” means “but-for causation.” Hathaway, 63 F.4th at 1052. So
an AKS violation gives rise to a subparagraph (A) claim when a defendant knowingly
presents (or causes to be presented) a claim for items or services which the claim
would not include but for the AKS violation. The 2010 amendment “would have little
practical effect” if it did not cut off other theories that “depend exclusively” on AKS
violations to establish falsity but do not require but-for causation. United States ex
rel. Louderback v. Sunovion Pharms., Inc., 703 F. Supp. 3d 961, 980 (D. Minn. 2023).
But not all Murphy’s claims depend exclusively on AKS violations. For some, “it is
not the AKS violation itself that renders the claim false [but] the false representation
that there i1s no AKS violation.” United States v. Regeneron Pharms., Inc., 128 F.4th
324, 333 (1st Cir. 2025). These fit neatly under subparagraph (B).

In sum, Murphy must allege an AKS violation for both subparagraph (A) and
(B) claims. But the paths from AKS violation to FCA liability differ. For subparagraph
(A) claims, Murphy must allege that the submitted claims “include[] items or services
resulting from” an AKS violation in order to allege that the submitted claims were
“false.” 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A). For subparagraph (B) claims, Murphy must allege
that material statements and records concealing or denying an AKS violation were
“false,” so he invariably must allege that an AKS violation truly occurred. See 31

U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(B).
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alleged in paragraph 280, and the “over $500 million” in paragraph 291 refers to the
total of the subsidized financial losses from 2014 to 2019 detailed in paragraph 280)).

As for the management fees, the Complaint adequately pleads those too. Under
the AKS, “induce” means “the necessary intent to lead or move by influence or
persuasion.” Jones-McNamara v. Holzer Health Sys., 630 F. App’x 394, 401 (6th Cir.
2015) (cleaned up). And Federal Rule of Civil 9(b) says a plaintiff may generally allege
“Intent, knowledge, and other conditions of a person’s mind.” Under that standard,
Murphy sufficiently alleges that Defendants overcompensated referring physicians
for the purpose of obtaining their referrals. Specifically, the Complaint says
Defendants paid referring physicians “management fees,” on top of their employment
compensation, without requiring that those physicians engage in any additional
duties, or provide any additional services, to earn those fees. (E.g., Doc. 50, #672).
Because the value of zero additional required duties or services is necessarily zero,
the management fees necessarily reflect payments above the fair market value for
the physicians’ services (which had already been compensated through the
employment compensation). This alleged something-for-nothing exchange supports
an inference that Defendants paid the management fees to induce referrals. See
United States ex rel. Bookwalter v. UPMC, 946 F.3d 162, 171 (3d Cir. 2019)
(“Compensation for personal services above the fair market value of those services
can suggest that the compensation is really for referrals.”).

Murphy has also pleaded that submitted claims included items or services

resulting from kickbacks. For example, Murphy alleges that TriHealth and TriHealth

17
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Physicians agreed to increase payments to gastroenterologists to retain $40 million
in profits from referrals, and that TriHealth and TriHealth Hospitals subsidized
TriHealth Physicians’ resulting losses. (Doc. 50, #595-97, 635). After TriHealth and
the gastroenterologists reached the retention agreement, TriHealth Hospitals
submitted claims for services referred by the same gastroenterologists. (Compare id.
at #596-97, with Doc. 50-11, #766—67).

Taking all that together, Murphy has set out a prima facie case for AKS

violations that could support his subparagraph (A) and (B) direct claims.

b. Prima Facie Stark Violations

Turn now to the alleged Stark Law violations. The Stark laws broadly ban
healthcare entities from submitting Medicare claims for designated health services
when the provider has a financial relationship with the referring doctor not subject
to an exception. United States ex rel. Daugherty v. Bostwick Lab’ys, No. 1:08-cv-354,
2012 WL 6593804, at *6 (S.D. Ohio Dec. 18, 2012) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn).

Recall that, to allege an FCA violation, Murphy must plausibly allege falsity.
See supra Part B.1. One way he can do so for his subparagraph (A) claims is by
alleging a Stark violation. Other circuits have held, and Defendants do not contest,
that a Medicare claim that violates Stark is a “false claim.” E.g., Bookwalter, 946 F.3d
at 169; United States ex rel. Pogue v. Diabetes Treatment Centrs. of Am., 565 F. Supp.
2d 153, 159 (D.D.C. 2008). To meet the falsity element for his subparagraph (B)

claims, Murphy must follow the same path as for the AKS violations. He must allege
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Hospitals. He hasn’t. A direct compensation arrangement requires remuneration
between referring physician and provider “without any intervening persons or
entities.” 42 C.F.R. § 411.354(c)(1)(1). Murphy argues that, together, Defendants were
“functionally the same entity.” (Doc. 71, #1250 (quoting Doc. 50, § 109)). To bootstrap
that position, he points to allegations that TriHealth controlled TriHealth Physicians’
physician compensation decisions and that TriHealth and TriHealth Hospitals
“financed the overpayments to employed physicians by channeling tens of millions of
dollars” in subsidies to TriHealth Physicians. (Id. at #1250-51). But all these
allegations establish i1s that TriHealth Physicians i1s an intervening entity—
remuneration from TriHealth and TriHealth Hospitals passed through TriHealth
Physicians on its way to the employed referring physicians.” And that won’t do for
showing a direct compensation arrangement.

Turn next to whether Murphy plausibly alleged an indirect compensation
arrangement. Here, he fares better. To plead an indirect compensation arrangement
under the then-applicable regulations, Murphy must allege: (1) an unbroken chain of
financial relationships between the referring physicians and the entity providing
referred services; (2) an entity in the chain pays the referring physicians aggregate
compensation that “varies with, or takes into account, the volume or value of referrals
or other business generated by the referring physician for the [entity providing

referred services]”; and (3) the entity providing referred services “has actual

7 There may well be a direct financial relationship between TriHealth Hospitals and
TriHealth Physicians (Doc. 71, #1251), but that does not create a direct relationship between
TriHealth Hospitals and physicians who contract with TriHealth Physicians.
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Circuit precedent compelled the court to rule the other way. Id. (citing United States
ex rel. Kosenske v. Carlisle HMA, Inc., 554 F.3d 88, 95 (3d Cir. 2009)). And what was
the basis for that precedent? Well, the Kosenske holding stems from United States v.
Shaw, 106 F. Supp. 2d 103 (D. Mass. 2000). See Kosenske, 554 F.3d at 95 (citing
United States v. Rogan, 459 F. Supp. 2d 692, 716 (N.D. Ill. 2006), which in turn cites
Shaw). But Shaw was an AKS criminal prosecution that did not involve the FCA.
Shaw, 106 F. Supp. 2d at 122. Rather, the Shaw court held that the government did
not need to plead around AKS exceptions in an indictment because the exceptions do
not serve as additional prima facie elements. Id. at 122. But that answer does not
meet the question here. See United States v. Medtronic, Inc., 189 F. Supp. 3d 259, 268
n.3 (D. Mass. 2016) (concluding that “the analysis is slightly different” under the FCA
as opposed to the AKS and Stark when it comes whether a plaintiff must plead around
safe harbors and exceptions). In short, then, the Sixth Circuit has not answered the
question, and the Court is dubious about the basis for the Third Circuit’s decision.
Luckily, however, the Court need not answer this thorny question for present
purposes. That’s because, even though he contends he did not need to do so, Murphy
has pleaded around the exceptions. Specifically, each exception applies only if the
physician compensation at issue did not “take into account” referral volume or value.
42 C.F.R. §1001.952(d)(1)Gv) (AKS personal services safe harbor); id.
§ 1395nn(e)(3)(A)(v) (Stark personal services exception); § 1395nn(e)(2)(B) (Stark
bona fide employee exception); see also Bookwalter, 946 F.3d at 177. As discussed

above, the Complaint alleges that the referring physicians’ employment
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compensation was in fact based on projected referral volume and that TriHealth
Hospitals paid the management fees to induce referrals. Taking those allegations as

true, the exceptions and safe harbor would not apply.

To summarize, Murphy has adequately pleaded that Defendants’ conduct
violated the AKS and Stark and did not fit any exception. He has identified specific
claims for services referred by doctors who had financial relationships with
Defendants that allegedly violated Stark and specific claims for services resulting
from the alleged AKS violations. And Defendants do not contest that Murphy has
alleged that Defendants certified compliance with AKS and Stark. Therefore, Murphy

has met the FCA’s falsity element for his subparagraph (A) and (B) claims.

d. Defendants’ Knowledge
Separately, Defendants argue that Murphy failed to plausibly or particularly
plead knowledge under the FCA. The FCA defines its scienter requirement as follows:

[TThe terms “knowing” and “knowingly”—
(A) mean that a person, with respect to information—
(1) has actual knowledge of the information;

(11) acts in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the
information; or

(111) acts in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the
information; and

(B) require no proof of specific intent to defraud].]

31 U.S.C. § 3729(b)(1). And under Rule 9(b), knowledge “may be alleged generally.”

Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b); SNAPP, Inc., 532 F.3d at 505.
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On this front, the Complaint sufficiently alleges that Defendants knew (or
recklessly disregarded) that their claims were false under the FCA. For example, as
discussed above, Defendants apparently knew the physician compensation
agreements took into account referral volume. By design, TriHealth Physicians lost
money under those agreements, but TriHealth Hospitals and TriHealth reaped
referral-based profits. TriHealth Hospitals and TriHealth subsidized TriHealth
Physicians’ losses and TriHealth Hospitals paid additional management fees to
referring physicians in TriHealth Physicians’ employ. Defendants then submitted
claims to federal healthcare programs that included items or services resulting from
AKS violations or referred by physicians with financial relationships violating Stark.
Despite these violations, TriHealth Hospitals certified their compliance with laws
including AKS and Stark. (Doc. 50, #702—03). And Defendants did so despite internal
policies requiring Stark and AKS compliance and did so in defiance of warnings from
Murphy and others. (E.g., id. at #619-20).

Defendants urge a different conclusion. They argue these allegations are
insufficient under United States ex rel. Schutte v. SuperValu Inc., 598 U.S. 739 (2023).
(Doc. 67, #888-92). In SuperValu, the Supreme Court held that defendants
“knowingly” submit false claims if “they actually thought that their claims were false”
even if a “hypothetical, reasonable person” may have believed the false claims to be
valid. 598 U.S. at 749. That is, objective reasonableness provides no safe harbor for a
defendant who subjectively believes its claims are false. Id. But SuperValu does not

make “objective measures, such as ‘fair market value’ (FMV) and MGMA survey data,
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alleged acts were within the scope of their employment.” (emphasis altered) (quotation
omitted)). For example, in negotiations with Defendants over the terms of their
employment, referring physicians allegedly demanded increased compensation or
else they would take their referrals to competing hospital systems. (Doc. 50, #615).
Accordingly, the intra-corporate conspiracy doctrine does not bar the claim. Murphy

has stated a conspiracy claim under the FCA.

3. Reverse Claims

Next up is Murphy’s reverse claim under subparagraph (G). To state a reverse
claim, Murphy must allege that Defendants either (1) knowingly (2) made, used, or
caused to be made or used false records or statements material to (3) an obligation
owed to the government, or alternatively that Defendants (1) knowingly (2) concealed
or improperly avoided (3) an obligation owed to the government. 31 U.S.C. § 3729
(a)(1)(G). An “obligation” includes the “retention of any overpayment.” Id.
§ 3729(b)(3). And the obligation must have attached before the defendant made or
used the false record or statement. Ibanez, 874 F.3d at 916-17.

As detailed above, Murphy alleges that TriHealth Hospitals received payments
from federal healthcare programs despite Stark and AKS violations. The Medicare
payments for those claims were interim payments. (Doc. 50, #582 (citing 42 U.S.C.
§ 1395¢g(a)). At the end of each fiscal year, TriHealth Hospitals submitted cost reports
in which they should have reported any overpayments. (Id. at #701—-04). In those cost
reports, TriHealth Hospitals allegedly falsely certified that their submitted claims

complied with federal law, including the AKS and Stark. (Id. at #702—03). Further,
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